No. 43706-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ROBERT J. HILL

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE
SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Katherine Stolz, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879
Counsel for Appellant

RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE
Post Office Box 31017
Seattle, Washington 98103
(206) 782-3353

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court erred and appellant Robert Hill's CrR 3.3 rights were violated when the court continued the case past the speedy trial date in order to secure the presence of two unnamed officers and one victim without the prosecution providing sufficient evidence or information to prove those witnesses were "unavailable" and a continuance beyond speedy trial should be granted as a matter of law.
2. The prosecutor committed flagrant, prejudicial and ill-intentioned misconduct which this Court has now repeatedly condemned and which cannot be deemed "harmless."

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

1. A continuance beyond speedy trial made over a defense objection may only be granted based on absence of a state's witness if the state shows a) that the witness is legally unavailable, b) that the witness will be available in a reasonable amount of time and c) that the state exercised due diligence in trying to secure the presence of the witness for trial.

Over defense objection, the court granted a prosecutorial request to continue the case past the speedy trial date, based on the absence of three state's witnesses. In making the request, the prosecutor did not even name the witnesses, identifying them only as "two officers" and one of the victims. The only information provided for their absence was that the latter was out of the country with the military and the officers were "not available." No further information was provided about the witnesses or their absence.

Did the trial court err and were Mr. Hill's rights under CrR 3.3 violated when the court granted the prosecution's request for the continuance even though the prosecutor failed to sufficiently show they were legally unavailable?

2. Many courts, including this one in State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1002 (2010), and State v. Johnson, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1013 (2011), have recognized that it is misconduct for a prosecutor to compare the certainty required to find that the state has proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt with the certainty jurors need to make even important everyday

decisions.

Did the prosecutor commit flagrant, prejudicial and ill-intentioned misconduct in misstating and minimizing his burden of proof by comparing the degree of certainty the jurors would need in order to figure out what city they were in after looking out a few windows with the degree of certainty they would need to find the state had proven its case beyond a reasonable doubt?

Further, was the prosecutor's misconduct in this case especially prejudicial and ill-intentioned where the prosecutor here made the improper argument well after this type of argument had been specifically condemned by this Court and the cases in which such condemnation has been leveled involved the very same prosecutor's office?

Given that credibility was the crucial issue, can the error be deemed harmless?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Robert Hill was charged by amended information with malicious mischief in the third degree and three counts of fourth-degree assault. CP 11-12; RCW 9A.36.04(1)(2), RCW 9A.48.090(1). Motions, pretrial and trial proceedings were held before the Honorable Katherine Stolz on January 3, April 6, July 12, 16-18, 2012, after which a jury found Hill guilty as charged. CP 48-51; RP 1, 70.¹

On July 19, 2012, Judge Stolz ordered Hill to serve standard-range sentences. CP 75-81; RP 249-51.

Hill appealed, and this pleading follows. See CP 85-91.

2. Testimony at trial

On November 8, 2011, sometime before 10:30 in the evening,

¹The verbatim report of proceedings consists of two chronologically-paginated volumes, which will be referred to as "RP."

Jamie Offergeld was working as a bartender and server in the downstairs area of the Stonegate bar. RP 102-103. Offergeld, whose father owns the bar, testified that a man named Robert Hill came up to the bar that night, wanting to know who had worked as the bartender the day before because Hill was “owed money.” RP 104. When Hill asked Offergeld for the bartender’s phone number Offergeld told him she was not sure who had worked the night before, that she was very busy and that she did not have time to “deal with him” that day. RP 105. Offergeld said Hill then asked her the same questions a few times more, after which he headed towards the back hallway. RP 105.

Offergeld described the upstairs of the bar as the place where the Stonegate held “events.” RP 106. Offergeld thought, however, that, because it was a weekday, there would be no events going on that night. RP 106.

According to Offergeld, after Hill walked away, a “regular customer” told her that Hill had just gone upstairs. RP 107. Offergeld responded that she thought Hill had an event planned with her father, the bar owner, sometime in the future. RP 107. The customer then supposedly said “[n]o, there was a falling out with that deal.” RP 107. The nameless customer also said “he didn’t think” Hill was “supposed to be there.” RP 107.

At trial, Offergeld admitted that she knew that Hill had made plans to have an event upstairs at the bar. RP 117. In fact, when Offergeld told Hill she did not have time to talk to him and thought he had gone upstairs, Offergeld admitted she “didn’t think anything about” Hill having gone

upstairs, because she knew he was planning on renting out the upstairs room. RP 118.

As a result of what the customer said, however, Offergeld went upstairs, arriving to see Hill behind the upstairs bar. RP 107. Initially, Offergeld testified that Hill did not have permission to be behind the bar. RP 108. In fact, she said, there was no reason whatsoever for Hill to be behind that bar. RP 108. Offergeld's father, Lawrence Call, made a similar claim. RP 154, 166.

On cross-examination, however, Offergeld admitted that the light switch for the upstairs area was, in fact, behind the bar. RP 120. Call also admitted that, in fact, Hill had rented the upstairs area for an election-night party that very night. RP 154.

According to Offergeld, when she got upstairs, Hill hollered that he wanted his money, then picked up a thermos-type object and "slam[med] it into the POS system," the touch-screen ordering system the bar used. RP 107-108. Offergeld then said that Hill was not really "smashing" the POS system but "was just chucking it, like, throwing it." RP 108. The unit was not broken, although the thermos was dented and the microwave Offergeld said Hill had thrown "just around" stopped heating after the incident. RP 123, 160.

Offergeld ultimately conceded that Hill was not throwing things around until Offergeld told him she did not have his money and her father was not there. RP 121. It was at that point that Hill seemed to get "angry." RP 121.

Offergeld also said that she was screaming for Hill to stop and told

him she did not know what he was talking about. RP 109. He said that her dad owed him money for a deposit and wanted her to call the other bartender. RP 109. When asked by the prosecutor to describe Hill's "demeanor," Offergeld testified that it was "[v]ery strange" and he was "very scary, very offensive" to her. RP 109-10.

Offergeld said that, when she told him no one there could help him and he needed to leave, Hill started walking towards her, hollering about his money and blowing on a whistle "over and over." RP 111. She also said when he got there, he grabbed her and shook her a little bit, saying, "I want my money." RP 111. Offergeld said it seemed like Hill grabbed her clothing and shook her and a little. RP 112.

At that point, another woman, Shannon Schardien, got involved. Schardien, Offergeld's friend, was talking to her when Hill came up to the bar initially and said Hill seemed "very agitated." RP 133-36. He was trying to get the attention of the bartenders but Offergeld, who was closest, was busy. RP 136. Schardien saw Hill depart but did not see where he went and then, a short time later, she saw Offergeld run away from the bar and go upstairs. RP 136. Schardien said she heard "commotion" and went upstairs to see what was happening. RP 136.

When Schardien arrived, she said, she saw Hill grabbing Offergeld on the stairs. RP 136. She said he seemed upset and was yelling about his money and blowing on a whistle. RP 136. Schardien also thought that some things upstairs appeared "thrown around." RP 136. She admitted, however, that she did not see anyone throwing things and the only things that looked out of place were some chairs and maybe some paper, "just

random things.” RP 138.

Schardien was concerned by what she saw so she went up the stairs, put her arms in between Offergeld and Hill and told him that he needed to leave, if he was concerned about money he needed to speak to the owner during normal business hours, that “this was not okay” and for him to please go. RP 139. Offergeld thought it appeared that Schardien knew Hill when the other woman said to Hill, very firmly, “Robert, you need to stop.” RP 112. Offergeld said Schardien tried to pull them apart and Hill then grabbed Schardien. RP 112, 149.

Offergeld admitted she was “not too clear” on what happened, actually, when Schardien approached, because it was “so quick.” RP 113.

Offergeld thought Hill was “getting madder and madder,” so she went downstairs into the bar to try to get help. RP 111-14. Richard Walters, who was in the bar that night, said Offergeld “came running downstairs,” saying, “help” and “he’s crazy.” RP 46-51. At first, Walters thought Offergeld was joking. RP 51. When she repeated the same things, Walters decided to go with her, following her to the stairs where Walters said he saw Hill standing with his back facing towards them. RP 51-52. Walters said Hill was blowing a whistle and screaming, sounding upset and angry. RP 51-52.

Walters first testified that Hill had Shardien “pinned against the wall.” RP 52. Walters later admitted that he just meant that Hill was blowing the whistle “in her face and talking to” Schardien. RP 52. Walters also said he never saw Hill put his hands on Schardien but, a moment later, agreed that he had previously said to the contrary. RP 52.

Walters testified that Hill was on one step and Schardien on another. RP 62-63. Hill was saying, “[w]here’s my money?” RP 53-54. Walters said, “[h]ey, man, what’s going on?” RP 53. Hill turned and blew his whistle in Walters’ face and said, “[w]here’s my money” again. RP 53. Walters said Hill’s face was red and he was spitting in Walter’s face, so that Hill did not look “lucid.” RP 53. It was only at that point what Walters said he saw Schardien and she seemed “distracted.” RP 54.

According to Walters, Hill then released Schardien, turned and put his hands on Walters’ chest “quickly,” which left a “couple marks” and made him start to fall backwards. RP 54. Walters admitted that it was not a “push” but more like Hill was trying to grab at a lapel that Walters did not have. RP 55.

Walters said Hill “basically” fell on top of Walters and the two of them made “kind of a controlled descent down the stairs,” during which Walters was able to gain his footing. RP 55. Walters said that they did not really roll down the stairs but instead had “righted” themselves and continued down the stairs, staying on their feet. RP 65. When they got to the bottom of the stairs, Walters said, he pushed a door to the outside open, “escorted” Hill into the alley and closed the door. RP 55.

According to Walters, after Hill was escorted into the alley, Hill then reopened the alley door and said, “[w]here’s my money” once again. RP 55. In contrast, Offergeld said that, right after Hill was guided into the alley, the door was shut and locked so it could not have been reopened. RP 131.

The bar owner, Call, conceded that Hill had rented the upstairs

room at the bar for an election party on November 8th, election night. RP 154. Apparently, there had been another similar event prior to that night which Hill had held at the Stonegate but then had moved “across the street to another venue” because Call’s bar was not “all ages.” RP 153. As a result, because the first event ended early, Call had agreed to give Hill a discount price on the election night party. RP 154. Hill was to pay \$200 and provide a “deejay” while Call had a “sound guy” who was going to work, too. RP 154.

Call said the “sound guy” showed up around 5:30 or 6 that night and the party was supposed to start about 6 or 7. RP 155. Call thought that Hill was supposed to be there at 6 in order to work out something about the “adapters,” which Call had bought so that a “deejay” could use the system. RP 156-57. When Hill had not arrived by about 7:30, Call left to go somewhere else. RP 157. At 9 p.m., Call told the sound guy to go home because Hill had not shown up and neither had anyone else. RP 158.

Call knew that the party that was being planned was for election night but said he was unaware that Hill was running for office himself. RP 162. The bar owner said that, when someone rented the room, it was “[n]ot necessarily” the normal understanding that the room was rented until the closing of the bar. RP 162. Call admitted, however, that Hill’s function could have gone until 2 or the closing of the bar, however long it happened to last. RP 163. In fact, Call said, he had expected the event to last at least until midnight. RP 163.

Call conceded that Hill had rented the room for the entire night.

RP 166. Because no one had shown up, however, Call said, there was no party. RP 166.

Roxanne White, who was working as a server that night, called the police at Offengeld's behest. RP 74-77, 85, 90, 92. In the 9-1-1 call, White admitted, she told police something about the upstairs room being rented. RP 97. White admitted that what she told the 9-1-1 operator was not what she had perceived but just what she was told that night, probably by Offengeld. RP 94, 97, 102. White herself never went upstairs or saw anything out of the ordinary that night, and "just wasn't sure what was going on." RP 92. Indeed, her recollection of that night was "very blurry." RP 92, 96, 98.

Robert Hill testified that, on November 8, 2011, he was on the ballot as a candidate for city counsel and also had an initiative that he had written which was being decided. RP 173-174. To celebrate, he was planning to have a big party at the Stonegate bar, where he had previously had another party. RP 176.

Hill testified that, when he arrived, he was still thinking the party was going to happen, so he went to the lower bartender area and asked if the sound engineer or Call were there. RP 177. He wanted to know how much he owed for the adapters. RP 178.

When the bartender did not respond, Hill just went upstairs. RP 178. When he got there, he started sort of jumping and hollering, "[i]t's party time, party time." RP 182. He had to go turn the lights on behind the bar and said he was "excited, exuberant." RP 182, 187. Hill also said he was a little angry from something that had happened earlier that day,

when he had been kicked out of City Hall. RP 183.

Hill said he was sort of “touching stuff” by him and “releasing energy” by tipping over things like menu stands, napkin things, and “stuff against the wall” but did not recall if he was throwing things. RP 185.

Hill said his understanding was that the bar opened at 4 p.m. and he had the place up until closing. RP 178.

While Hill was upstairs, Offengeld came up and yelled, “[w]hat’s going on.” RP 187. Hill was saying, “[i]t’s party time” and “[s]how me the money.” RP 187. He was also asking where was the sound engineer and she was saying “I don’t know” and “[c]alm down.” RP 187.

According to Hill, Offengeld grabbed Hill’s right arm with one or both of her hands. RP 188. She started tugging on his arm and after a moment he started tugging back. RP 189. When Schardien arrived, Hill recalled her introducing herself by her Facebook name and he thought it was strange because he did not know her. RP 191. She was telling him he was not supposed to be there and to calm down but he was still wanting to talk to Call. RP 191. Hill thought it was possible that Schardien might know where Call and the sound engineer were because she might have been there for awhile that night. RP 191.

Schardien grabbed Hill’s left arm, so that she was on one side and Offengeld the other. RP 192. Hill, who was still blowing his whistle, said he tried to jerk back but did not grab anyone. RP 192-93. Instead, he thought the two women had their hands on him until he was at the bottom of the stairs. RP 193. When Walters got involved, Hill was concerned because he had things he was wearing around his neck and he was afraid

someone would pull on them and he would fall down the steps. RP 195. Hill and Walters ended up sort of pulling back and forth although Hill did not think he grabbed Walters by the shirt or lapel area. RP 196. Hill was by this time trying to disengage but they all sort of ended up walking down the stairs. RP 196.

Hill testified that all of his physical contact with Walters, Offengeld and Schardien that night were reactions and his effort to try to avoid being injured. RP 197.

D. ARGUMENT

1. REVERSAL AND DISMISSAL IS REQUIRED
BECAUSE HILL'S SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHTS UNDER
CrR 3.3 WERE VIOLATED

Under CrR 3.3, the “speedy trial” rule, a trial must be held within 60 days of arraignment, if the defendant is in custody. See State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009). The trial court is responsible for ensuring compliance with the rule and, when a defendant's rights under the rule are violated, the court must dismiss the charges with prejudice. Id.

In this case, reversal and dismissal is required because Hill's speedy trial rights under CrR 3.3 were violated.

a. Relevant facts

Mr. Hill was initially charged on November 14, 2011, when the first information was filed. CP 1-2. On January 3, 2012, the parties appeared before Judge Stolz to discuss whether bail should be reduced. RP 1-8. The judge also granted a continuance, with the written order indicating the reason as follows: “[d]efense needs additional time for

investigation.” CP 5. The order continued the trial date to February 1, 2012, calculating the new expiration date as March 2, 2012. CP 5.

No hearing was held on January 23, 2012, but a notation was made in the court file that the matter had been scheduled but “due to inclement weather conditions was cancelled.” Supp. CP __ (clerk’s minute entry, filed January 24, 2012).²

On February 1, 2012, an order of continuance was entered, giving the reason of “additional time needed for interviews/negotiations” and indicating the extension was by agreement of the parties. CP 6. The order continued the trial from February 1 to February 15, stating the expiration date was now March 16. CP 6. Another order continuing trial was entered on February 15, 2012, indicating that the “plea fell through parties need to interview witnesses and prepare for trial” and that extension was by agreement of the parties. CP 7. The trial date was extended to March 20, with the new expiration date noted as April 19. CP 7.

When March 20 arrived, the case was further continued, this time because the prosecution was going to file an amended information and more time was needed for investigation. CP 8. The trial date of March 20 was continued to April 16, with the expiration date now set at May 16. CP 8.

On April 16, 2012, the parties again appeared before Judge Stolz. RP 8. The judge stated her understanding that there was a request to continue the trial because one of the assault victims was “out of the

²A supplemental designation of clerk’s papers for this document is being filed herewith.

country with the military” and two law enforcement officers were “not available.” RP 8. The court noted the case was 154 days old and there had been four prior continuances. RP 8.

The prosecutor told the court that Hill would not be “prejudiced” by a continuance because he was “currently serving a prison sentence” for another offense. RP 8. Counsel for Hill told the court, “[w]e’re opposed to any continuance of this matter.” RP 9. He said Hill wanted to go to trial and that it seemed “these scheduling issues” with witnesses “could have been known when the trial was last set.” RP 9. The court held that there was “good cause under State vs. Campbell to continue this matter.” RP 9. The written order indicated that the current trial date of April 16 was continued to May 22, with the expiration date thus changing to June 23. CP 9.

On May 22, the court continued the case again, this time because the defense had “recently received new information” regarding witnesses and needed time to “locate” and interview them. CP 10. The trial date of May 22, 2012, was continued to July 12, 2012, with the expiration date now listed as August 22, 2012. CP 10. Pretrial proceedings started on July 12. RP 10.

b. Hill’s speedy trial rights were violated

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