NO. 43706-6

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ROBERT HILL, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Katherine Stolz

No. 11-1-04556-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
MELODY M. CRICK
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 35453

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

472, 783 P.2d 1131 (1989) (congestion at crime lab not a valid reason for continuance). There is no way to replace the crime victim with another witness. This is a valid reason under the court rule and under case law. The trial court found good cause for the continuance. In addition, the continuance was granted for a relatively short period of time. The date chosen worked with the attorney's calendars. It was a little over a month out which is not an unreasonable time. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting the continuance.

The State does not believe the trial court erred in citing to *State v. Campbell*, 103 Wn.2d 1, 691 P.2d 929 (1984) as that case addressed that the trial court has discretion to grant a continuance with a proper record. However, even if this court finds that the trial court erred in making the finding under *Campbell*, there is still no showing that the trial court abused its discretion in granting the continuance based on a victim not being available since the victim was out of the country due to the military. "It is a general rule of appellate practice that the judgment of the trial court will not be reversed when it can be sustained on any theory, although different from that indicated in the decision of the trial judge." *State v. Norlin*, 134 Wn.2d 570, 582, 951 P.2d 1131 (1998) quoting *Sprague v. Sumitomo Forestry Co.*, 104 Wn.2d 751, 758, 709 P.2d 1200 (1985).

There is a sufficient basis in the record for the continuance and as such, this court should affirm.

Further, defendant asked for five of the six continuances. The continuances on January 3, 2012, February 1, 2012, March 20, 2012 and May 22, 2012 were all made on defendant's motion. CP 5, 6, 8, 10. The continuance on February 15, 2012 was made on the motions of both the State and defendant after the plea deal fell through. CP 7. The only time the State solely asked for a continuance, defendant objected. RP 8-9, CP 9. This is disingenuous. Defendant delayed the trial several times but objected because he really wanted to go to trial as soon as the State had a witness scheduling issue. Defendant's own delays of the trial likely contributed to the eventual scheduling issue. Regardless, defendant then asked for another continuance on the very next trial date, undercutting his previous argument that he was ready and really wanted to go to trial. Defendant cannot show a violation of the time for trial rules. The trial court did not abuse its discretion and defendant affirmatively asked for the four continuances that lead up to the April 16, 2012 continuance. Defendant has never articulated, either in the trial court or on appeal, how the continuance prejudiced him or his defense. Indeed, since the majority of the continuances were requested by defendant, including the continuance at the very next trial date, it is difficult to see how he would

have been prejudiced. Defendant's rights were not violated, the court rule was followed, the trial court did not abuse its discretion and defendant's motion to dismiss his case should be denied.

2. DEFENDANT DID NOT OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S STATEMENTS AND CANNOT MEET HIS BURDEN OF SHOWING THAT THE STATEMENTS CONSTITUTE PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

“Trial court rulings based on allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.” *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). To prove that a prosecutor’s actions constitute misconduct, the defendant must show that the prosecutor did not act in good faith and the prosecutor’s actions were improper. *State v. Manthie*, 39 Wn. App. 815, 820, 696 P.2d 33 (1985) (citing *State v. Weekly*, 41 Wn.2d 727, 252 P.2d 246 (1952)). The defendant has the burden of establishing that the alleged misconduct is both improper and prejudicial. *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 718. Even if the defendant proves that the conduct of the prosecutor was improper, the misconduct does not constitute prejudice unless the appellate court determines there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury’s verdict. *Id.* at 718-19.

A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the burden of demonstrating that the remarks or conduct was improper and that it

prejudiced the defense. *State v. Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d 570, 640, 888 P.2d 570 (1995) *citing State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). If a curative instruction could have cured the error and the defense failed to request one, then reversal is not required. *State v. Binkin*, 79 Wn. App. 284, 293-294, 902 P.2d 673 (1995), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Kilgore*, 147 Wn.2d 288, 53 P.3d 974 (2002). Failure by the defendant to object to an improper remark constitutes a waiver of that error unless the remark is deemed so “flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury.” *Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 719, *citing Gentry*, 125 Wn.2d at 593-594.

In addition to the general principal of issue preservation, it is important for trial counsel to object to improper argument. Timely objections serve to discourage a prosecutor from escalating improper comments on a topic or theme that has been rejected by the court. *See e.g., State v. Warren*, 165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P. 3d 940 (2008). Proper objections may stop repetitive or continuing improper questions or argument in trial. *See e.g., State v. McKenzie*, 157 Wn.2d 44, 53 n. 2, 134 P.3d 221 (2006). A timely objection gives the trial court the opportunity to instruct the jury or otherwise cure the error, insuring a fair trial and avoiding a costly retrial. *See e.g., Warren*, 165 Wn.2d at 25. The trial

court is in the best position to determine whether misconduct or improper argument prejudiced the defendant. *See Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d at 718. In other words, the best time and place to address an improper argument is in the trial court, where the court can take remedial action.

Failure to object or move for mistrial at the time of the argument “strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial.” *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P. 2d 610 (1990); *see also State v. Monday*, 171 Wn.2d 667, 679, 257 P.3d 551 (2011). In *Swan*, the Court further observed that “[c]ounsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal.” *Id.*, quoting *Jones v. Hogan*, 56 Wn.2d 23, 27, 351 P.2d 153 (1960).

When reviewing an argument that has been challenged as improper, the court should review the context of the whole argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument and the instructions given to the jury. *State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 85-6, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *citing State v. Graham*, 59 Wn. App. 418, 428, 798 P.2d 314 (1990), *State v. Green*, 46 Wn. App. 92, 96, 730 P.2d 1350 (1986). “Remarks of the prosecutor, even if they are improper, are not grounds for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in

reply to his or her acts and statements, unless the remarks are not a pertinent reply or are so prejudicial that a curative instruction would be ineffective.” *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 86, citing *State v. Dennison*, 72 Wn.2d 842, 849, 435 P.2d 526 (1967). The prosecutor is entitled to make a fair response to the arguments of defense counsel. *Russell*, 125 Wn.2d at 87.

In the instant case, defendant claims that the very end of the State's rebuttal closing was misconduct. The prosecutor's argument was as follows:

And the last thing I want to talk about is reasonable doubt. The Defense brought that up, so I am going to show you my artistic abilities and demonstrate reasonable doubt. If I were to take you from this building and drive you around in the back seat of a limousine with a blindfold on for 40 minutes, okay, so 40 minutes --you can go 40 minutes this way, that way, or you can go around in a big circle; you don't know where you're going --and I bring you up to a building that has ten flights of stairs, and I put you in a room, and I take your blindfold off, and you see three windows and a chair in the middle, and I have you sit in the middle, and then I say, let's do a little experiment here; go look out that first window and see what you see, and you do; you go out, and you look out the first window, and you see a mountain, and then I tell you --you know, I say, can you tell me beyond a reasonable doubt where you are? You know you're in Washington because you didn't go that far in the car. You went 40 minutes; but you say to me, I can still be in Tacoma because I can see that beautiful mountain from right out there on the highway, and I show you a body of water. I ask you to look out the next window, and you do; and, of course, you see this large body of water, and you say, wait a minute, you know. I say, can you tell me beyond

a reasonable doubt where you are? And you say, of course not. I can see the water from Tacoma. I can see it from Seattle. I don't know where I am beyond a reasonable doubt. But then I say, look out the third window, and you do, and you see this thing that you recognize right there: and it's the Space Needle, and it's as big as day, and you see it. You know beyond a reasonable doubt you're in Seattle, and I don't have to show you the EMP. I don't have to show you the Seattle Art Museum. I don't have to show you --I don't have to show you a hundred things. I don't have to show you a thousand things. I've showed you three things, and you were convinced beyond a reasonable doubt; so the argument where there's evidence or lack thereof, there's not a lack of evidence here, folks. There's enough evidence for you to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

RP 234-236. Defendant did not object to any part of this argument. As such, this court would have to find that the argument was flagrant and ill-intentioned. There is no evidence that this argument was either of those things.

A puzzle analogy is used to show juries that it is possible to have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, even though there are some “holes” or “pieces” missing, i.e.: questions left unanswered or not every piece of evidence one would like to have. The puzzle analogy does not diminish the State’s burden. It is merely one way to argue the concepts of “piecing together” evidence and that of reasonable doubt. This Court has found that such an argument does not shift the burden. *State v. Curtiss*, 161 Wn. App. 673, 700-701, 250 P.3d 496 (2011). *See also State v. Fuller*, 169 Wn. App. 797, 282 P.3d 126 (2012).

In the instant case, the State's comments were not misconduct. First, the remarks were in rebuttal closing. The State, as stated in the closing, was responding to the defense arguments about reasonable doubt and his emphasis on the lack of evidence. RP 223. Second, the analogy used was not a reference to decisions in every day life or comparing reasonable doubt to taking a trip. The State did not tell the jury that reasonable doubt was the same as deciding whether or not to take a trip. The analogy was used to show that you don't have to have an exhaustive amount of evidence in order to meet the reasonable doubt standard. Third, the State did not tell the jury that they only had to have three pieces of evidence in order to find the defendant guilty. In the analogy the State used, there were only three pieces necessary. However, the State did not tell the jury that was all they needed in order to find defendant guilty. The State had already gone through the evidence in its initial closing and reminded the jurors that there was plenty of evidence in this case to find defendant guilty. The State's remarks were not misconduct.

In that instant case, the court instructed the jury on the law including the reasonable doubt standard and the presumption of innocence.

The defendant has entered a plea of not guilty. That plea puts in issue every element of the crime charged. The State is the plaintiff and has the burden of proving each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. The

defendant has no burden of proving that a reasonable doubt exists as to these elements.

A defendant is presumed innocent. This presumption continues throughout the entire trial unless during your deliberations you find it has been overcome by the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt.

A reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists and may arise from the evidence or lack of evidence. It is such a doubt as would exist in the mind of a reasonable person after fully, fairly, and carefully considering all of the evidence or lack of evidence. If, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge, you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 52-74, Instruction 2, *see also* Washington Pattern Jury Instructions

Criminal, WPIC 4.01. Further, the court instructed the jury:

The lawyer's remarks, statements, and arguments are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law. It is important, however, for you to remember that the lawyers' statements are not evidence. The evidence is the testimony and exhibits. The law is contained in my instructions to you. You must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions

CP 52-74, Instruction 1, *see also* Washington Pattern Jury Instructions

Criminal, WPIC 1.02.

Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). Any remarks by the prosecutor in closing that were not supported by the instructions, the jury is presumed to disregard. Even if the prosecutor's statements were error, if any prejudice arose in the analogy, a curative instruction could have resolved it. But defendant did not ask for such an instruction. These

comments were not so “flagrant” or “ill intentioned” that a simple curative instruction would not have remedied any possible prejudice. The instant case is also distinguishable from *State v. Johnson*, 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010). In *Johnson*, the State used a fill in the blank argument and also made an argument about a partially completed puzzle. *Id.* at 684. The combined arguments caused the trial court to find misconduct. *Id.* at 684-85. Here, the State did not make any fill in the blank argument or any other argument that defendant either objected to at the trial court or objects to now. Further, the State was not arguing that you only need to partially complete a puzzle in order to satisfy reasonable doubt. The State was responding to defendant's lack of evidence argument and showing that an unlimited number of pieces of evidence are not necessary to satisfy reasonable doubt. The State is entitled to respond to arguments made by defense counsel. There is no error.

The jury was properly instructed and is presumed to follow the court's instructions as to the burden of proof. Even if the court finds that the prosecutor's arguments were error, in the context of the entire argument, the evidence presented and the instructions given to the jury, defendant cannot show prejudice. The court's instructions to the jury that contained the proper burden of proof cured any prejudice that may have resulted. Defendant cannot show error.

Further, even if this court were to find that the State's remarks were error, any error was harmless. Any error in making the argument was harmless error. The central purpose of a criminal trial is to determine guilt or innocence. *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570, 577, 106 S. Ct. 3101, 92 L. Ed. 2d 460 (1986). “Reversal for error, regardless of its effect on the judgment, encourages litigants to abuse the judicial process and bestirs the public to ridicule it.” *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 17, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999) (internal quotation omitted). “[A] defendant is entitled to a fair trial but not a perfect one, for there are no perfect trials.” *Brown v. United States*, 411 U.S. 223, 232, 93 S. Ct. 1565, 36 L. Ed. 2d 208 (1973) (internal quotation omitted).

Allowing for harmless error promotes public respect for the law and the criminal process by ensuring a defendant gets a fair trial, but not requiring or highlighting the fact that all trials inevitably contain errors. *Rose*, 478 U.S. at 577. Thus, the harmless error doctrine allows the court to affirm a conviction when the court can determine that the error did not contribute to the verdict that was obtained. *Id.* at 578; *see also State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988) (“The harmless error rule preserves an accused’s right to a fair trial without sacrificing judicial economy in the inevitable presence of immaterial error.”).